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Date:  May 25, 2006 
 
RE: Personal Care Services and Family Supports1 
 

Question:  My state is considering a rule that would make reductions to hours of personal care 
services based on whether the individual lives with paid caregivers who provided assistance to 
him.  Have there been successful challenges in other states to similar rules? 
 
Brief answer:  Yes.  State courts in Washington and Missouri have recently invalidated rules 
that (1)  took into consideration the financial situation of a live-in caregiver or (2) 
automatically reduced the number of personal care hours based on whether the individual lived 
with a paid caregiver as violations of the federal Medicaid Act.  The rule your state is 
considering may similarly violate the federal law. 
 
Discussion:  
 

Advocates in Washington and Missouri who challenged rules that resulted in reductions to 
personal care hours have met with success in recent months.  This fact sheet describes the two 
cases.  

 
In Jensen v. Mo. Dep’t of Health and Human Servs., the plaintiff, Elisha Jensen, appealed a 

decision reducing her personal care services.  Ms. Jensen, twenty seven, sustained a traumatic 
brain injury at age ten that caused speech, vision, mobility and memory disabilities.  186 S.W.3d 
857, 2006 Mo. App. Lexis 369 (App. Ct. Mo. 2006).  While living with her parents, she obtained a 
high school diploma and took several college courses.  Through Missouri’s Medicaid program, 
Ms. Jensen had been receiving six hours of personal care services (known as “PCA”) six hours per 
day, seven days per week since 2001.2  Her mother is her paid caregiver.  Id. at *2. 

 
During an annual review in 2003, Ms. Jensen’s services were reduced to five days per week.  
The caseworker determined that Ms. Jensen had failed to document that it would be an “undue 
hardship” for her parents to meet her needs on the additional two days.  Id. at *3.  This decision 
was based on Missouri regulatory requirements  collectively referred to as the “supplanting 
policy,” because the Medicaid agency aimed to prevent “the supplanting of services that are 

                                                 
1  Produced by the National Health Law Program with grants from the Nathan Cummings Foundation and the Training 
Advocacy Support Center (TASC), which is sponsored by the Administration on Developmental Disabilities, the 
Center for Mental Health Services, the Rehabilitation Services Administration, the Social Security Administration, and 
the Health Resources Services Administration. TASC is a division of the National Disabilities Rights Network 
(NDRN). 
2 The types of services provided as PCA were tasks related to personal care, such as eating, bathing, dressing, toileting, 
housework, laundry, meal preparation, transportation, grocery shopping, and medication and money management. Id. 
at  *2. 
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already available to the consumer from family members or others through [a] natural support 
system.” Id. at  *11.  The regulations provide that: 

 
Unmet needs are those routine tasks and activities of daily living as allowable by Medicaid but 
not adequately met by current support systems without causing undue hardships to the 
client/consumer and/or caregiver. 

 
19 C.S.R. § 15-8.100(1)(L).  “Undue hardship” is defined as  
 
 

the result of a significantly difficult circumstance experienced by the caregiver who is currently 
meeting the needs of the person with a disability that creates a situation of burden, risk, or harm 
to the caregiver or client/consumer.  Undue hardship includes, but is not limited to, the 
following: 

 
 

1. Loss of income 
2. Overall disintegration of the family; 
3. Abuse and neglect; 
4. Misuse of child labor; 
5. Inadequacy of training and/or 
6. Physically contraindicated. 
 

Id. at § 15-8.100(1)(L).  Applying these regulations to Ms. Jensen’s situation, the caseworker 
determined that there would be no financial hardship if her mother was not paid for two days of 
providing care.   This decision was upheld at two administrative hearings and on appeal to the 
county circuit court.   Id. at  *3-4.   
 
 On appeal, Ms. Jensen argued that these regulations conflict with the federal Medicaid Act 
and were therefore preempted.  Specifically, she claimed that the Medicaid Act specifically 
prohibits the consideration of her parents’ financial resources.  She cited 42 U.S.C. § 
1396a(a)(17)(D), which provides that states may not, when determined the extent of medical 
assistance to be provided, “take into account the financial responsibility of any individual for any 
applicant or recipient. . . unless such applicant or recipient is such individual’s spouse or such 
individual’s child under age 21.”  Id. at *11-12. 
 
 The court of appeals held that Missouri’s regulations were preempted by this Medicaid 
requirement to the extent that it considered family resources of adult aid recipients.  It based this 
conclusion on its holding that the regulation, in contravention of § 1396a(a)(17), “specifically 
requires that the caregiver’s hardship (loss of income) be shown in determining whether the 
recipient has unmet needs.”  *13.  “While the Defendant is correct that it does have great flexibility 
in designing its PCA program, its requirements, nonetheless, may not conflict with federal law.”  
*13-14.   
 
 Moreover, the court found no significance in the fact that the Centers for Medicare and 
Medicaid Services (CMS) had approved the PCA plan.  “What the federal government approved . . 
. was just a broad description of the PCA program that did not include the specific “unmet need” 
and “undue hardship” regulations at issue.”  Id. at *14. 
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 The court not only ordered that allowed Ms. Jensen’s caregiver to be paid, it also found that 
an award of back pay was justified.  It ordered a remand for further proceedings to determine the 
amount her caregiver was owed for PCA services that should have been compensated but were 
rendered voluntarily.  Id. at *15-16. 
 
 Kimberly Jo Sternemann of Crystal City, Missouri was the attorney for Ms. Jensen. 

 
A similar Washington regulation was at issue in Gasper v. Dep’t of Social and Health 

Services, 132 Wn. App. 42 (2006).  Known as the “shared living” rule, this regulation required a 
reduction in home care hours when a beneficiary lives with his or her paid caregiver.  WAC 
3880106-0130(3)(b).  When evaluating an individual for his need for service, the evaluator gives 
the client scores on factors such as the client’s ability to perform daily activities and the client’s 
mental status.  The numerical score is used to calculate a “base” score.  Next, the evaluator 
considers whether informal supports like friends or family members are already helping the client 
meet certain needs and reduces the score accordingly.  Finally, if an individual is living with a paid 
caregiver, the shared living rule mandated that the allowed care hours be automatically reduced by 
15 percent.  132 Wn. App. at 47.  The theory behind this rule is that live-in caregivers are already 
going to clean the house, go shopping and cook for themselves and that “the state should not pay 
for tasks that benefit the whole household.”  Id. 

 
The plaintiffs were all living with their paid caregivers.  Venetta Gasper, who has severe 

developmental disabilities, had been receiving 184 hours per month and was assessed a base score 
of 190 hours per month.   Her hours were reduced to 152 per month after application of the shared 
living rule.  Similarly, Tommye Myers, who received care from her live-in son, was receiving 184 
hours and then assessed to need 190 hours, but this was reduced to 153.  The caregivers presented 
evidence that showed that this reduction was not justified by the facts and each testified that they 
spent more than 184 hours per month on care for the plaintiffs.  Ms. Gasper’s caregiver testified it 
took her an extra 75 hours per month in food preparation because Ms. Gasper’s schedule and 
eating habits differ from her family.  Ms. Myers’ caregiver estimated that he spends an extra eight 
hours per month shopping for his mother’s special diet, 100 hours extra per month on 
housekeeping and 45 hours per month extra on meal preparation.  132 Wn. App. at 47.   

 
Both plaintiffs requested individual hearings, but the ALJs asserted that they lacked the 

power to invalidate a rule and affirmed the decisions.    Their cases were consolidated at the 
superior court, which invalidated the shared living rule.  Id.  at 48. 

 
The Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court’s decision.  In doing so, it refused to 

defer the defendant’s interpretation of federal law.  The court first determined that the regulation 
violates Medicaid’s comparability requirement.  Under this requirement, the medical assistance a 
state provides for any categorically needy individual cannot be less in amount, duration or scope 
than the assistance provided to any other categorically needy individual.  42 U.S.C. § 
1396a(a)(10)(B)(i).  The court held that, because the defendant had reduced recipients’ benefits for 
reasons other than the recipients’ need, comparability was violated.  The court acknowledged that 
“[h]aving a live-in provider certainly may affect a recipient’s need. . . . However, to simply impose 
an automatic 15 percent reduction for all recipients ignores the realities of their individual 
situations.”  Id. at 54.  Thus, the court reasoned, the system could result in unmet needs for 
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individuals like the plaintiffs, while others with comparable disabilities would receive adequate 
services, which is a violation of comparability.  Id. at 55. 

 
DSHS also argued that it had requested a waiver of comparability from the federal 

government.  The court acknowledged that the application for the waiver did include “boilerplate” 
language regarding waiver of comparability, but that this was not sufficient.  States were still 
required to describe the target group that would be receiving services.  “Without showing that it 
somehow incorporated the shared living rule into its waiver request, DSHS cannot claim that the 
Secretary waived the comparability requirements for those who live with their caregivers, ”  Id. at 
56.   DSHS also claimed that the fact that CMS approved its plan it also authorized the shared 
living rule.  The court rejected this argument, reasoning that a general waiver of comparability did 
not constitute an authorizing of the rule.  The court did, however, state that it would be permissible 
for DSHS to reduce the hours of care for a person living with the paid caregiver if it had actually 
found that the client’s needs were being met.  Thus, it considered the plaintiffs’ argument that the 
rule violated the free choice of provider requirement.  The plaintiffs reasoning was that the benefit 
reduction was based solely on her choice of provider and it would force her to choose someone 
other than her paid provider.  The court rejected this argument, reasoning that “Medicaid recipients 
do not have an absolute right to receive continued service from their preferred providers.”  Id. at 
57.   

 
The state has requested that the Supreme Court of Washington review this case.   
 
Counsel in this case are Meagan MacKenzie of the Northwest Justice Project in Seattle and 

Amy Crewdson of Columbia Legal Services in Olympia.  
 
Implications for Advocates: 
 
These cases should be encouraging to advocates who are facing states’ attempts to cut 

personal care services costs.   When states attempt to impose automatic reductions on services 
without consideration of individual needs, courts will be take a skeptical view of such 
methodologies, particularly when faced with specific individuals with unmet needs.   As more 
states attempt to take “natural supports,” i.e. unpaid family members efforts, into consideration, 
they may overstep their bounds and take financial resources into account.   Again, the evidence of 
individuals who are actually being negatively affected by the application of these rules are more 
likely to convince judges that the rules are wrong.   

 
These cases were both appeals of administrative hearings.  Two distinct advantages arose 

from this choice.  First, there were specific individuals who were being deprived of necessary 
services  
 


